Diverse, Disillusioned, and Divided

Millennial Values and Voter Engagement in the 2012 Election

Analysis by Robert P. Jones, Daniel Cox, and Juhem Navarro-Rivera



Public Religion Research

Institute

BERKLEY CENTER for Religion, Peace & World Affairs GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY

Acknowledgements

The Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey is a joint study by the Public Religion Research Institute and Georgetown University's Berkley Center for Religion, Peace, and World Affairs. The joint survey was made possible by a generous grant from the Ford Foundation. The authors are grateful to Dr. Thomas Banchoff, director of Georgetown University's Berkley Center for Religion, Peace, and World Affairs, for his collaboration on the survey and insightful analysis. The authors would like to thank Amelia Thomson-DeVeaux for her substantial research and editorial assistance, and Cristina Stanojevich for her extensive assistance with the report graphics, layout, and cover. We would also like to thank Rabinowitz-Dorf Communications and Erin Taylor of the Berkley Center for providing communications outreach for the survey release.

© Public Religion Research Institute, Inc. and Georgetown University's Berkley Center for Religion, Peace, and World Affairs.

Robert P. Jones, Ph.D., CEO 2027 Massachusetts Ave NW, 3rd Floor Washington, DC 20036 http://www.publicreligion.org/

Thomas Banchoff, Ph.D., Director 3307 M St. NW, Suite 200 Washington, DC 20007 http://berkleycenter.georgetown.edu/

Released on October 4, 2012

Scan the following QR code with your smart phone to visit the PRRI website.



Table of Contents

	Executive Summary	1	
1	Millennials and the 2012 Election	5	
	Introduction	5	
	Voter Registration and Engagement in the 2012 Election	6	
	The Power of Parental Example on Voting	8	
	Why Millennials Do Not Vote	9	
	Campaign Outreach	9	
	Voting Preferences in 2012	10	
	Obama vs. Romney	10	
	Behind Vote Preferences: Reasons for Supporting		
	Obama and Romney	12	
	Influence of Voting Preferences of Millennials' Parents	13	
	Views of the Candidates and the Parties	14	
	Obama's Job Performance	14	
	Views of Barack Obama and Mitt Romney	14	
	Candidate Traits	15	
	Views of Joe Biden and Paul Ryan	17	
	Views of the Major Parties	18	
	Perceptions of the Major Parties' Political Identities	19	
	Religion and Voting	19	
	The Importance of a Presidential Candidate's Religion	19	
	Comfort With a Mormon President and Impact on Vote	21	
	Differences in Candidates' Religious Beliefs		
	and Impact on Vote	22	
2	Affirmative Action	25	
	General Support for Affirmative Action Programs	25	
	Affirmative Action in College Admissions	27	
	Affirmative Action for Specific Groups	28	
	Rationale for Affirmative Action Programs	28	
	Effect of Race or Gender on College Admissions	29	
	Effect of Race or Gender on Future Career Prospects	30	
3	The Efficacy of Democratic Participation	33	
	Pessimism About Politicians, the Democratic Process,		
	and Government	33	

	Optimism About the Efficacy of	
	Voting and Impact on Voter Engagement	35
	Pessimism About the Long-term Stability of Social Security	35
	Economic Issues: Health Care and Taxes	36
	The 2010 Health Care Law	36
	The Buffett Rule	37
4	Social Issues	39
	Same-sex marriage	39
	Marijuana	40
	The DREAM Act	41
	Appendix 1: Survey Methodology	43
	Appendix 2: Comparisons to the General Public	45
	Appendix 3: About PRRI and the Authors	49

Executive Summary

Voter Registration and Engagement

Nearly two-thirds (66%) of younger Millennials (age 18-25) say they are currently registered to vote, compared to about 6-in-10 (61%) who reported being registered to vote in March 2012. White younger Millennials (71%) are significantly more likely to report being registered to vote than black younger Millennials (60%) or Hispanic younger Millennials (53%).

Between March and September, however, there was little change in younger Millennials' self-reported probability of voting. Half (50%) of younger Millennials currently report that they are absolutely certain to vote in the 2012 presidential election, compared to 46% in March.

Younger Millennials whose parents took them to the voting booth on Election Day when they were growing up are much more likely to be registered to vote (84%) and are more likely to say they are absolutely certain that they will vote in the upcoming election (66%).

The 2012 Election and the Candidates

At this point in the campaign, Obama holds a 16-point lead over Romney among younger Millennial voters (55% vs. 39%). Obama's lead among these voters has increased significantly since March, when he held a modest 9-point lead over a generic Republican candidate (48% vs. 39%).

- There are, however, substantial racial and ethnic divisions in voter preferences. Black younger Millennial voters overwhelmingly support Obama over Romney (97% vs. 2%), while Obama's lead among Hispanic younger Millennial voters is also substantial (69% vs. 23%). By contrast, Romney has an 11-point advantage over Obama among white younger Millennial voters (52% vs. 41%).
- Romney has a commanding lead among white Christian younger Millennials. Eight-in-ten (80%) white evangelical Protestant younger Millennial vot-

ers support Romney, while just 15% support Obama. A slim majority (51%) of white mainline Protestant younger Millennial voters also prefer Romney, while 4-in-10 (40%) say they support Obama. Obama, however, has a significant advantage among Catholic younger Millennial voters overall (55% vs. 38%), minority Protestant younger Millennial voters (70% vs. 26%), and religiously unaffiliated younger Millennial voters (68% vs. 23%).

Obama supporters are nearly equally as likely to say they support him because he shares their views (17%) as they are to say that they support him because they do not like Romney (15%). By contrast, younger Millennial voters who support Romney are significantly more likely to say they support the GOP candidate because they dislike Obama (35%) than they are to report they support Romney because he shares their views (20%).

On a range of candidate traits related to empathy, trustworthiness, and leadership, Obama has a significant advantage over Romney. Of eight different traits, Romney outperforms Obama on only one: having strong religious beliefs.

Presidential Candidates and Religion

Nearly half (49%) of younger Millennials say it is somewhat or very important for a candidate to have strong religious beliefs, while 48% say it is not too important or not at all important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs.

- Seven-in-ten (70%) younger Millennial Republicans agree that it is important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs.
- By contrast, a majority of younger Millennial Democrats (54%) and younger Millennial Independents (54%) say it is not too or not at all important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs.
- A majority of black (68%) and Hispanic (57%) younger Millennials agree that it is important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs, compared to only 44% of white Millennials. A majority (53%) of white younger Millennials believe that it is not important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs.

Less than half of younger Millennials say they would be comfortable with a Mormon (44%), atheist (43%), or Muslim (30%) President. There is a strong correlation between younger Millennials' level of comfort with a Mormon president and their support for Romney. Younger Millennial voters who say a Mormon president would make them uncomfortable are strongly supporting Obama over Romney (69% vs. 23%) while those who say they would be comfortable favor Romney (55% vs. 41%).

Disillusionment with Government

Overall, younger Millennials exhibit a high degree of pessimism about the democratic process and the government.

- More than 6-in-10 (63%) younger Millennials agree that "people like me don't have any say about what the government does," while more than 8-in-10 (82%) believe that business corporations have too much influence on the political process.
- Most (61%) younger Millennials reject the idea that "the government is really run for the benefit of all the people," and younger Millennials are six times more likely to say they think about government as "the" government (86%) rather than "our" government (12%).
- This significant disillusionment with the government and the political process cuts across political affiliation, race, religious affiliation, and gender.

Despite their pessimism about government and politicians, more than two-thirds (68%) of younger Millennials nonetheless say that "voting gives people like me some say about how government runs things."

• There is a strong connection between likelihood of voting among younger Millennials and views about the efficacy of voting. Nearly 8-in-10 (79%) younger Millennials who say they are certain to vote in the presidential election agree that voting gives people like them some say about how the government runs things, compared to 41% of younger Millennials who say they are not likely to vote.

Affirmative Action

Nearly half (47%) of younger Millennials oppose programs that make special efforts to help blacks and other minorities to get ahead because of past discrimination, while around 4-in-10 (38%) favor these programs.

- Less than 1-in-5 (19%) white younger Millennials favor programs designed to help blacks and other minorities get ahead because of past discrimination, while nearly two-thirds (66%) are opposed.
- By contrast, three-quarters (75%) of black younger Millennials and more sixin-ten (63%) Hispanic younger Millennials favor such programs.

Support for affirmative action programs diminishes considerably when younger Millennials are asked specifically about affirmative action for college admissions.

- Nearly 7-in-10 (69%) younger Millennials believe that blacks and other minorities should not receive preference in college admissions to make up for past inequalities, while around 1-in-5 (19%) younger Millennials favor such programs.
- Black and Hispanic younger Millennials are divided on whether there should be affirmative action in college admissions, but white younger Millennials are strongly opposed.

Relatively few (15%) younger Millennials report that they were hurt in the college admissions process because of their race or gender, while about 1-in-10 (8%) say they were helped by these policies. Nearly 7-in-10 (69%) younger Millennials say their race or gender did not affect them.

Most younger Millennials do not believe their race or gender will have an effect on their future career prospects.

- More than 6-in-10 (63%) younger Millennials believe that their gender or race will make no difference in their career, while 12% think it will help them, and 18% think it will hurt them.
- Majorities of white (67%), black (54%), and Hispanic (57%) younger Millennials say that their race or gender will make no difference in their career prospects.

Millennials and the 2012 Election

Introduction

The 2012 Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey is the second wave of a major two-part study of college-age Millennials (age 18-25) conducted during the 2012 presidential election campaign by Public Religion Research Institute and Georgetown University's Berkley Center for Religion, Peace, and World Affairs. Together, the two surveys provide an unprecedented look at the voting preferences, social attitudes, and political engagement of this diverse generation of Americans. The surveys also explore the impact of worldview, values, familial and social relationships, and religion on younger Millennials' political beliefs and behavior.

The first wave of this study, fielded in March 2012, highlighted the unique demographics and social experiences of this group of younger Millennials. There we noted that this generation is marked by considerable racial and ethnic diversity and fluidity in religious identity. Notably, younger Millennials are significantly more likely than the general population to be religiously unaffiliated. The survey also found that younger Millennials are being strongly influenced by technology and social media, and are shaped by close relationships with their parents. The full impact of education, however, has yet to be felt, since many of this cohort have yet to graduate from college. For more on the demographic characteristics of this diverse group, see the report from the first wave of the survey, "A Generation in Transition: Religion, Values, and Politics among College-Age Millennials." This report is based on the second wave survey of 1,214 adults ages 18 to 25 who were re-contacted from the first wave Millennials Values Survey between August 28 and September 10, 2012. The second wave of this study finds a significant increase in support for President Obama, but no significant increase in voter engagement over this period. Younger Millennials remain largely disillusioned about the democratic process and the government's responsiveness to their needs. The survey also finds that despite perceptions of Millennials as "the diversity generation," marked by tolerance and acceptance of difference, deep divisions remain among younger Millennials across a range of issues along racial and religious lines.

Voter Registration and Engagement in the 2012 Election

Nearly two-thirds (66%) of younger Millennials (age 18-25) say they are currently registered to vote, while about 6-in-10 (61%) who reported being registered to vote in March 2012.¹ White Millennials (71%) are significantly more likely to report being registered to vote than black (60%) or Hispanic Millennials (53%).

Between March and September, there was little change in younger Millennials' self-reported probability of voting. Half (50%) of Millennials currently report that they are absolutely certain to vote in the 2012 presidential election, compared to 46% in March. Less than 1-in-5 (16%) say they will probably vote, and roughly one-third (32%) say the chances are 50-50 or less that they will vote. By contrast, 7-in-10 (70%) Americans overall say they are absolutely certain to vote in the presidential election, while 10% say they will probably vote, and 17% say the chances are 50-50 or less.²

Although there are no differences between younger Millennial men and women, there are differences in younger Millennials' self-reported likelihood of voting by race and ethnicity and educational attainment. Hispanic Millennials (34%) are much less likely to say they are absolutely certain to vote than are white (54%) and black (58%) Millennials. Millennials with at least some college education (76%) are also more likely than those with a high school education or less (54%) to say they will probably vote.

¹ The original sample was comprised of younger Millennials, age 18-24. In the time that elapsed between the first survey and the second, however, some of the sample turned 25. The age range has been modified to reflect this.

² Public Religion Research Institute, 2012 Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012. http://publicreligion.org/research/2012/04/millennial-values-survey-2012

Voter Engagement Among Younger Millennials (18-25)

- Registered to vote
- Absolutely certain to vote
- Given quite a lot of thought to the election



By Race



Impact of Parental Example



Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

As the presidential campaign moves into the home stretch, most younger Millennials remain unengaged. Less than 3-in-10 (29%) younger Millennials report that they have given a lot of thought about the upcoming presidential election. Approximately 4-in-10 (37%) say they have given it "some" thought, and one-third say they have given little (22%) or no (11%) thought to the presidential campaign. There are no differences in attentiveness to the election by race or ethnicity, but Millennial men (72%) are more likely than Millennial women (61%) to report that they are paying at least some attention to the election.

The Power of Parental Example on Voting

Roughly 4-in-10 (39%) younger Millennials report that, as children, they accompanied their parents to voting booth on Election Day. White Millennials (48%) are significantly more likely than black (38%) or Hispanic (26%) Millennials to say they accompanied their parents to the voting booth as children. A majority (54%) of ideologically conservative Millennials report that their parents took them to the voting booth, compared to 41% of ideologically liberal Millennials and 31% of ideologically moderate Millennials.

Younger Millennials who are religiously affiliated are significantly more likely than those who are not to have accompanied their parents to the voting booth as children. More than 6-in-10 (64%) white Catholic Millennials say that they accompanied their parents to the voting booth as children. Approximately half of white evangelical Protestant (52%), white mainline Protestant (50%), and Catholic Millennials overall (53%) say that their parents took them to the voting booth on Election Day. More than 3-in-10 (31%) minority Protestant Millennials and around one-quarter (26%) of religious unaffiliated Millennials say that as children, they went with their parents to the voting booth on Election Day.

Younger Millennials whose parents took them to the voting booth on Election Day are much more likely to be registered to vote and are more certain that they will vote in the upcoming election. More than 8-in-10 (84%) younger Millennials who report that they went with their parents to the voting booth say they are currently registered to vote, compared to 55% of those who did not accompany their parents. Similarly, nearly two-thirds (66%) of Millennials who traveled with their parents to the voting booth say they are absolutely certain they will vote this year, compared to 40% of those who did not.



Younger Millennials (18-25) Who Accompanied Their Parents to the Voting Booth as Children

By Race

Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

Why Millennials Do Not Vote

In response to an open-ended question about why more people their age do not vote, the most frequently cited reason is electoral apathy or lack of interest in politics (27%). Comments like, "Politics can be boring," and, "They don't care enough," are fairly typical of the responses offered. Younger Millennials are less likely to explain their generation's low voting rates by citing the belief that their vote doesn't count or matter (13%), that they are too busy or voting is too difficult (14%), that young people are simply lazy (13%), that they are uninformed (9%), or that they dislike politicians (4%).

There are few divides among younger Millennials on why more young people do not vote. However, Millennial women (14%) are more likely than Millennial men (4%) to say that being uninformed was a reason more young people do not vote.

Campaign Outreach

Roughly 4-in-10 (43%) younger Millennials (age 18-25) report that someone has talked to them about voting or registering to vote. A majority (56%) of black Millennials report that they have been contacted by someone about voting or registering to vote, compared to roughly 4-in-10 white (41%) and Hispanic (41%) Millennials. Younger Millennials who are currently attending a college or university (50%) are much more likely to have been contacted about voting or registering to vote than those who have already graduated (39%) or who have never attended (37%).

Six-in-ten younger Millennials report that they have seen a lot (32%) or at least some (28%) campaign commercials featuring one of the candidates. Nearly 1-in-5 (19%) report that they have not seen any. Younger Millennials are most likely to report seeing or hearing campaign commercials on television (89%); few report seeing or hearing them on a news website or blog (17%), on the radio (13%) or through social networking sites like Facebook (16%). There are few demographic differences, but younger Millennials who identify as ideologically liberal (27%) are more than twice as likely as younger Millennials who identify as ideologically conservative (10%) or moderate (13%) to say that they have seen campaign commercials on social media.

Voting Preferences in 2012

Obama vs. Romney

At this point in the campaign, President Barack Obama holds a 16-point lead over Governor Mitt Romney among younger Millennial voters (55% vs. 39%). Obama's lead among these voters has increased since March, when he held a modest 9-point lead over a generic Republican candidate (48% vs. 39%).

There are, however, substantial racial and ethnic divisions in younger Millennial voters' preferences. Black Millennial voters overwhelmingly support Obama over Romney (97% vs. 2%), while Obama's lead among Hispanic Millennial voters is also substantial (69% vs. 23%).³ By contrast, Romney has an 11-point advantage over Obama among white Millennial voters (52% vs. 41%). However, there are also pronounced regional differences among white Millennial voters. Romney holds a lead over Obama in the South (62% vs. 30%). By contrast, white Millennial voters in the West (48% vs. 47%) and Midwest (44% vs. 49%) are divided between Romney and Obama.⁴

 $^{^3}$ These results are based on fewer than 100 black Millennial voters (N=85) and should be interpreted with caution.

⁴ There are too few white Millennial voters in the Northeast to analyze.



2012 Presidential Vote Among Younger Millennials (18-25)





Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

One reason for Obama's advantage among younger Millennial voters overall is that he performs much better among his party's ideological base than Romney. Nearly 9-in-10 (86%) liberal Millennial voters support Obama, while more than 7-in-10 (72%) conservative Millennial voters support Romney. Nearly 1-in-4 (23%) conservative Millennial voters report that they would vote for Obama if the election were held today.

There are substantial religious divisions in younger Millennials' support for the two candidates. Romney has a commanding lead among white Christian voters. Eight-in-ten (80%) white evangelical Protestant Millennial voters support Romney, while just 15% support Obama. A slim majority (51%) of white mainline Protestant Millennial voters also prefer Romney, while 4-in-10 (40%) say they support Obama. Obama, however, has a significant advantage over Romney among Catholic Millennial voters overall (55% vs. 38%), minority Protestant voters (70% vs. 26%), and religiously unaffiliated Millennial voters (68% vs. 23%).

Behind Vote Preferences: Reasons for Supporting Obama and Romney

Younger Millennial voters articulate a broader range of reasons for supporting Obama than for supporting Romney. Obama supporters are nearly equally as likely to say they support him because he shares their views (17%) as they are to say that they support him because they do not like Romney (15%). About 1-in-10 say they support Obama because he is trying to do or doing a good job (11%), because of personal qualities (8%), or because he cares more about the poor and middle class (8%). About one-quarter of Obama supporters say they support him because of some policy stance, such as health care (9%), economic policies (6%), reproductive or social policies (4%), education and environmental policies (3%), and immigration (2%). Only 3% of younger Millennial voters mention progress, hope, or change, the major themes of Obama's 2008 campaign.⁵

By contrast, younger Millennial voters who support Romney are more likely to say they support the GOP candidate because they dislike Obama (35%) than they are to report they support Romney because he shares their views (20%). Six percent of Millennial voters who are supporting Romney cite his personal qualities or the fact that they like him. Few Romney supporters mention policy specifics: 15% mention the economy or budget in general, and only a handful of supporters

⁵ This section includes only Millennials who reported that they are currently registered to vote.

Reasons for Supporting Obama/Romney

Among Younger Millennial Voters (18-25)



Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

mentioned other specific policies. One-in-ten (10%) mention change or moving in a different direction.

Influence of Voting Preferences of Millennials' Parents

When asked about their parents' voting preferences, less than 4-in-10 (37%) younger Millennials say their parents are likely voting for Obama, while nearly as many (31%) say that their parents are supporting Romney. About 1-in-10 (9%) Millennials reported their parents are likely splitting their vote between the candidates. Nearly 1-in-5 (19%) Millennials say that their parents are probably not going to vote. Parental voting patterns strongly affect the voting patterns of younger Millennials. Nearly all (96%) Millennial voters whose parents are both supporting Obama are also supporting the President. Among Millennials whose parents are both supporting Romney, 84% say they are supporting the Republican nominee.

Parental voter participation also has a strong influence on younger Millennials' voter participation. Among Millennials who say their parents are probably not going to vote, only 30% are registered to vote and only 13% say they are absolutely certain to vote.

Views of the Candidates and the Parties

Obama's Job Performance

Overall, a slim majority (51%) of younger Millennials (age 18-25) say they approve of the way Barack Obama is handling his job as President. Nearly 4-in-10 (39%), however, say they disapprove of Obama's job performance.

There are striking partisan divides on this question. More than 9-in-10 (92%) Millennial Democrats say they approve of the way Obama is handling his job as President, compared to only 1-in-10 (10%) Millennial Republicans. Millennial Independents are divided: 40% say they approve of Obama's job performance, while 44% disapprove.

Black (84%) and Hispanic (65%) Millennials are much more likely than white Millennials (36%) to say they approve of the way Obama is handling his job as President. A majority (55%) of white Millennials say they disapprove of Obama's job performance, but white Millennials' views are highly stratified by region. Nearly two-thirds (66%) of white Millennial voters in the South say they disapprove of Obama's job performance, while only around one-quarter (26%) approve. By contrast, white Millennial voters in the Midwest (44% approve, 48% disapprove) and West (50% approve, 46% disapprove) are divided.

Views of Barack Obama and Mitt Romney

In terms of personal appeal, Obama has a significant edge over Romney. A majority (56%) of younger Millennials (age 18-25) have a favorable opinion of Obama, while roughly 4-in-10 (38%) have an unfavorable opinion. By contrast, approximately one-third (32%) of younger Millennials have a favorable opinion of Romney, while nearly 6-in-10 (58%) view the Republican nominee unfavorably. Views of the candidates are sharply divided by race and party affiliation.

Younger Millennials' views about the two candidates are highly politically polarized. Millennial Democrats have a nearly unanimously (95%) positive impression of Obama, while only around 1-in-10 (12%) Millennial Republicans say they have a favorable view of the President. Similarly, more than 8-in-10 (83%) Millennial Republicans say they view Romney favorably, compared to 8% of Millennial Democrats. However, Millennial Independents have a more positive view of Obama than of Romney. Half (50%) of Millennial Independents say they view Obama favorably, while less than 3-in-10 (29%) say the same of Romney.

Black (92%) and Hispanic (72%) Millennials are far more likely than white Millennials (40%) to have a favorable view of Obama. However, white Millennials have similarly lukewarm feelings about Romney (44% favorable). Less than 1-in-5 (16%) Hispanic Millennials and 1-in-10 (10%) black Millennials have favorable opinion of the GOP nominee.

Majorities of minority Protestant Millennials (78%), religiously unaffiliated Millennials (66%), and Catholic Millennials overall (59%) have a favorable opinion of Obama. However, less than half of white mainline Protestant Millennials (38%), white Catholic Millennials (31%), and white evangelical Protestant Millennials (26%) have a favorable opinion of the President.

The reverse is true with regard to Romney. Majorities of white evangelical Protestant Millennials (63%) and white Catholic Millennials (56%) have a favorable opinion of Mitt Romney. Less than half of white mainline Protestant Millennials (48%), Catholic Millennials (38%), minority Protestant Millennials (20%), and religiously unaffiliated Millennials (19%) have a favorable view of the GOP nominee.

Candidate Traits

With regard to candidate traits related to empathy and trustworthiness and leadership and efficacy. Barack Obama generally has a significant advantage over Mitt Romney. On traits related to empathy and trustworthiness, Obama enjoys a greater advantage. Most Millennials believe the phrase, "understands the problems of poor Americans," better describes Obama (63%) than Romney (21%). A majority (56%) of Millennials believe that Obama can be more accurately described as "honest and trustworthy," compared to Romney (29%). Younger Millennials are also more likely to say that "cares about people like you" is more applicable to Obama (57%) than to Romney (26%).

Obama also has double-digit advantage over Romney on traits related to leadership. Obama holds a 16-point edge over Romney on being perceived as a "strong and decisive leader" (52% vs. 36%), a 12-point advantage over Romney on being perceived as the leader who "can get the economy moving again" (49% vs. 37%), and an 18-point advantage on being perceived as a leader who "can fix the political system" (46% vs. 28%).

Younger Millennials are, however, more likely to believe the phrase "has strong religious beliefs," better describes Romney (54%) than Obama (32%).



Traits Best Describing Presidential Candidates

Among Younger Millennials (18-25)

Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

There are substantial racial divisions on these questions about candidate traits, with black and Hispanic Millennials favoring Obama across nearly all measures, while white Millennials are more divided. White Millennials are, for the most part, more likely to believe Romney better exemplifies traits related to leadership than Obama. Nearly 4-in-10 (39%) white Millennials say that Romney is the leader who can "fix the political system," while about one-third (32%) say this better describes Obama. Similarly, a majority (51%) of white Millennials believe that Romney is more likely to get the economy moving, while 35% say this better describes Obama. White Millennials are also more likely to believe that Romney (48%) can be better described as a "strong and decisive leader," rather than Obama (39%).

White Millennials are also divided on traits related to empathy and trustworthiness. White Millennials are about equally likely to say that Obama (43%) and Romney (39%) care more about people like them. Similarly, 41% of white Millennials report that Obama is more honest and trustworthy, while 43% say this better describes Romney. Nearly two-thirds (66%) of white Millennials say that Romney holds stronger religious beliefs, while 1-in-5 (20%) say the same of Obama.

Majorities of all religious groups believe that Romney possesses stronger religious beliefs than Obama. More than 8-in-10 (82%) white evangelical Protestant Millennials, 7-in-10 (70%) white Catholic Millennials, and around 6-in-10 (61%) white mainline Protestant Millennials say that Romney holds stronger religious beliefs than Obama, while slimmer majorities of religiously unaffiliated Millennials (58%) and Catholic Millennials overall (53%) say the same. Minority Protestant Millennials are the only group in which a majority (53%) say Obama has stronger religious beliefs than Romney.

Views of Joe Biden and Paul Ryan

Overall, younger Millennials (age 18-25) are divided in their view of Vice President Joe Biden: 42% have a favorable opinion, while 39% have an unfavorable opinion, and 14% say they are unfamiliar with the Vice President. Younger Millennials are nearly twice as likely to have an unfavorable (45%) rather than favorable (25%) view of vice presidential nominee Paul Ryan, while nearly 3-in-10 (27%) say they have not heard of Ryan.

As with the presidential candidates, younger Millennials show high levels of partisan polarization in their opinions of the vice presidential candidates. More than three-quarters (76%) of Millennial Democrats hold a favorable view of Biden, while only 7% have a favorable view of Ryan. Similarly, nearly two-thirds (64%) of Millennial Republicans hold favorable views of Ryan, while only 15% have a favorable view of Biden.

Although Ryan is less well known among younger Millennials overall, Catholic Millennials are about equally as likely to have heard of both vice presidential candidates. Among all Catholic Millennials, Biden (48%) has a nearly 20-point advantage in favorability over Ryan (30%). However, only one-third (33%) of white Catholics view Biden favorably, while more than 4-in-10 (43%) have a favorable impression of Ryan.

Views of the Major Parties

A slim majority (51%) of younger Millennials (age 18-25) have a favorable opinion of the Democratic Party, while one-third (33%) hold a favorable view of the Republican Party.

Younger Millennials are highly politically polarized in their views of the two major parties. More than 9-in-10 (93%) Millennial Democrats have a favorable view of the Democratic Party, while only 6% say the same of the Republican Party. Similarly, nearly 9-in-10 (89%) Millennial Republicans have a favorable view of the Republican Party, while only 12% say the same of the Democratic Party. Millennial Independents express dissatisfaction with both major parties: majorities of Millennial Independents say they have an unfavorable view of both the Republicans (59%) and the Democrats (51%).

There are substantial racial divides in younger Millennials' perspectives on the two parties. Solid majorities of black (87%) and Hispanic (60%) Millennials say they have a favorable opinion of the Democratic Party. Less than one-quarter (23%) of Hispanic Millennials and less than 1-in-10 (6%) black Millennials say they have a favorable view of the Republican Party. Notably, neither political party is viewed favorably by a majority of white Millennials. Only 36% of white Millennials say they have a favorable view of the Democratic Party, while less than half (44%) say they have a favorable opinion of the Republican Party.

Millennial women (56%) are more likely than Millennial men (44%) to hold a favorable opinion of the Democratic Party. There are no divisions by gender in terms of the Republican Party's favorability.

Perceptions of the Major Parties' Political Identities

Younger Millennials are more likely to say the Republican Party is politically conservative (64%) than they are to identify the Democratic Party as politically liberal (53%). Three-in-ten (30%) younger Millennials identify the Democratic Party as moderate, while about one-quarter (23%) say the same of the GOP. Few Millennials identify the Democrats as conservative (12%) or the Republicans as liberal (8%).

There are substantial differences in how younger Millennial partisans view their own party and the opposition party. When asked where the Democratic Party falls on the ideological spectrum, Millennial Democrats are less likely than Millennial Republicans to report that the Democratic Party is liberal (53% vs. 78%). Millennial Democrats are four times more likely than Republican Millennials to say that the Democratic Party is moderate (33% vs. 8%).

There is greater agreement about ideological identity of the GOP. Roughly threequarters of Millennial Republicans and Democrats believe the GOP is conservative (74% each). However, Millennial Democrats are more likely to believe the GOP is "very conservative" (51% vs. 15%). Millennial Republicans are nearly twice as likely as Millennial Democrats to say the Republican Party is moderate (24% vs. 13%).

Religion and Voting

The Importance of a Presidential Candidate's Religion

Younger Millennials (age 18-25) are nearly evenly divided on whether it is important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs. Nearly half (49%) of younger Millennials say it is somewhat or very important for a candidate to have strong religious beliefs, while 48% say it is not too important or not at all important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs.

There are significant differences by political affiliation. Seven-in-ten (70%) Millennial Republicans agree that it is important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs. By contrast, a majority (54% each) of Millennial Democrats and Millennial Independents say it is not important.

Importance of Presidential Candidates Having Strong Religious Beliefs

Among Younger Millennials (18-25)



Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

There are also substantial differences by race. A majority of black (68%) and Hispanic (57%) Millennials agree that it is important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs, compared to only 44% of white Millennials. A majority (53%) of white Millennials believe that it is not important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs.

Majorities of all religiously affiliated younger Millennials say that it is important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs. More than three-quarters (77%) of white evangelical Protestant Millennials, three-quarters (74%) of minority Protestant Millennials, nearly 6-in-10 Catholic Millennials overall (57%) and white Catholic Millennials (57%), and a slim majority (51%) of white mainline Protestant Millennials say it is important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs. By contrast, nearly 8-in-10 (78%) religiously unaffiliated Millennials disagree. Notably, 60% of religiously unaffiliated Millennials say it is not at all important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs.

Younger Millennials with a four-year college degree (34%) are significantly less likely than those with a high school education or less (53%) to say that it is important for a presidential candidate to have strong religious beliefs.

Comfort With a Mormon President and Impact on Vote

Younger Millennials report varying degrees of comfort with the idea of presidents from different religious backgrounds. Overall, younger Millennials express more comfort with the idea of an evangelical Christian serving as president, than with a Mormon, atheist, or Muslim. More than 6-in-10 (61%) of younger Millennials say they would be comfortable with an evangelical Christian serving as president, while less than half say they would be comfortable with a Mormon (44%), atheist (43%), or Muslim (30%) president.

White Millennials (50%) are more likely than both black (33%) and Hispanic (27%) Millennials to express comfort with a Mormon president. White (44%) and Hispanic (43%) Millennials are more likely than black Millennials (30%) to express comfort with the idea of an atheist president.

Millennial Republicans are significantly more comfortable than Millennial Democrats with the idea of a Mormon president (62% vs. 39%). By contrast, Millennial Democrats are significantly more likely than Millennial Republicans to be com-

Comfortable Uncomfortable Refused 70 60 64 61 50 52 50 40 44 43 30 33 30 20 10 6 6 6 5 0 An Atheist An Evangelical or A Mormon A Muslim Born-again Christian

Comfort With Presidents of Different Religious Backgrounds

Among Younger Millennials (18-25)

Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

fortable with an atheist (53% vs. 25%) or a Muslim (46% vs. 13%) President. There is more accord among Millennial Democrats and Republicans in their comfort with an evangelical President (63% and 75%).

Majorities of white mainline Protestant Millennials (56%), white evangelical Protestant Millennials (56%), and white Catholic Millennials (57%) say they would be comfortable with a Mormon president. By contrast, majorities of religiously unaffiliated Millennials (59%) and minority Protestant Millennials (63%) say they would be uncomfortable with a Mormon president.

There is a strong relationship between younger Millennials' level of comfort with a Mormon president and their support for Romney. Among registered voters, younger Millennials who say a Mormon president would make them uncomfortable strongly support Obama over Romney (69% vs. 23%), while those who say they would be comfortable with a Mormon president favor Romney (55% vs. 41%).

Differences in Candidates' Religious Beliefs and Impact on Vote

Although most younger Millennials report that the statement "has strong religious beliefs" is a more apt description for Romney rather than Obama, they are more likely to believe that Obama's religious beliefs are similar to their own. More than 6-in-10 Millennials say that Romney's religious beliefs are somewhat (22%) or very different (40%) than their own religious beliefs. Younger Millennials are divided on whether Obama's religious beliefs are similar to their own. Half (50%)

of Millennials say that Obama's beliefs are different from their own, while 45% say that Obama's beliefs are similar to their own.

There are major cleavages by religious affiliation. Nearly three-quarters (74%) of white evangelical Protestant Millennials, and about 6-in-10 white mainline Protestant Millennials (58%) and religiously unaffiliated Millennials (60%) say that Obama's religious beliefs are different from their own. About two-thirds (67%) of minority Protestant Millennials and 6-in-10 (61%) Catholic Millennials say that Obama's religious beliefs are similar to their own. Majorities of all religious groups believe that Romney's religious beliefs are different from their own, including 82% of religiously unaffiliated Millennials, 60% of minority Protestant Millennials, 57% of white mainline Protestant Millennials, 54% of Catholic Millennials

Believe Presidential Candidates' Religious Beliefs Are Different From Their Own

Among Younger Millennials (18-25)



Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

overall, and 51% of white evangelical Protestant Millennials.

There are substantial political divisions on this question. More than 6-in-10 (63%) Millennial Democrats agree that Obama's religious beliefs are similar to their own, compared to only 24% of Millennial Republicans. By contrast, a majority (57%) of Millennial Republicans say that Romney's religious beliefs are similar to their own, compared to 1-in-5 (20%) Millennial Democrats. Majorities of Millennial Independents agree that both Romney's (63%) and Obama's (55%) religious beliefs are different from their own.

Perceptions of religious difference are strongly correlated to support. Among younger Millennial voters who see Romney's religion as different from their own, Obama leads Romney (69% vs. 25%). However, among those who see Obama's religion as different from their own, Romney leads Obama (55% to 36%).

Affirmative Action

The Millennial generation is the most religiously, ethnically, and racially diverse generation in American history. This diversity has resulted in dramatically increased levels of social interaction among Millennials with different backgrounds, which in turn correlates with greater levels of tolerance and acceptance of difference. However, the first wave of the current survey, conducted in March 2012, uncovered surprising racial tensions among younger Millennials, particularly on the issue of discrimination on the basis of race. Specifically, the previous survey found that nearly 6-in-10 (58%) white Millennials agree that discrimination against whites has become as big a problem as discrimination against blacks and other minorities. Hispanic (59%) and black (65%) Millennials, however, strongly reject this statement. In order to provide a deeper understanding of how attitudes about discrimination and race remain operative in this generation, we asked a series of questions about affirmative action, a topic that is relevant to many young-er Millennials as they seek admission into colleges and the job market.

General Support for Affirmative Action Programs

Nearly half (47%) of younger Millennials (age 18-25) oppose programs that make special efforts to help blacks and other minorities get ahead because of past discrimination, while around 4-in-10 (38%) favor these programs.



Support for Affirmative Action Programs to Redress Past Discrimination

Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

The racial differences on this question are striking. Less than one-in-five (19%) white Millennials favor programs designed to help blacks and other minorities get ahead because of past discrimination, while nearly two-thirds (66%) are opposed. By contrast, three-quarters (75%) of black Millennials and more than six-in-ten (63%) Hispanic Millennials favor such programs.

There are also strong partisan divisions. Roughly 1-in-10 (12%) Republican Millennials favor programs that make special efforts to help blacks and other minorities get ahead because of past discrimination, while nearly 8-in-10 (78%) are opposed. Six-in-ten (62%) Millennial Democrats favor such programs, while less than 3-in-10 (28%) are opposed. There are, however, significant racial divides among Millennial Democrats; less than half (48%) of white Millennial Democrats support these programs, compared to 72% of non-white Millennial Democrats.

Attitudes toward affirmative action among religious groups generally fall along racial and ethnic lines. Nearly 8-in-10 white Catholic Millennials (78%), threequarters (74%) of white evangelical Protestant Millennials, and 7-in-10 (70%) white mainline Protestant Millennials oppose affirmative action programs. By contrast, more than 6-in-10 (63%) minority Protestant Millennials support these programs. Religiously unaffiliated Millennials are divided: 45% oppose affirmative action programs, while a similar number (42%) are in favor.

Affirmative Action in College Admissions

While about four-in-ten (38%) younger Millennials support affirmative action programs in general, support for such programs diminishes considerably when asked specifically about affirmative action for college admissions. Nearly 7-in-10 (69%) younger Millennials believe that blacks and other minorities should not receive preference in college admissions to make up for past inequalities, while around 1-in-5 (19%) younger Millennials favor such programs.

White Millennials are strongly opposed to affirmative action in college admissions, while black and Hispanic Millennials are more divided. Less than 1-in-10 (8%) white Millennials believe that blacks and other minorities should receive preference in college admissions, while more than 8-in-10 (83%) are opposed. By contrast, more than 4-in-10 (42%) black Millennials believe that blacks and other minorities should receive preference in college admissions to make up for past inequalities, while a similar percentage (44%) think they should not. Nearly 4-in-10 (39%) Hispanic Millennials think blacks and other minorities should receive preference in college admissions, while 47% are opposed.

There is bipartisan opposition to affirmative action in college admissions, but there remain varying degrees of intensity. At least 6-in-10 (61%) Millennial Democrats, Millennial Independents (70%), and Millennial Republicans (90%) oppose affirmative action in college admissions.

All major religious groups oppose programs that would give preference in college admissions to blacks and other minorities. White evangelical Protestant Millennials (93%), white Catholic Millennials (89%), and white mainline Protestant Millennials (87%) are most strongly opposed to affirmative action in college admissions. Nearly 7-in-10 (69%) religiously unaffiliated Millennials are also opposed to affirmative action. A slim majority (53%) of minority Protestant Millennials oppose programs that give preference in college admissions to blacks and other minorities, while 32% are in favor.

Affirmative Action for Specific Groups

Younger Millennials do not, overall, believe that any one group should be singled out for preference in college admissions or in hiring. At least 7-in-10 younger Millennials believe that Asian Americans (75%), black Americans (71%), gay and lesbian people (77%), Hispanic Americans (72%), and women (70%) should not be given preference in college admissions and in hiring.

As with the previous two questions on affirmative action, there are significant racial divisions. At least eight-in-ten white Millennials agree that none of these groups should be given preference in college admissions and in hiring (ranging from a low of 82% for women and a high of 88% for Asian Americans, gays and lesbians, and Hispanic Americans; the figure for black Americans was 85%).

Black Millennials are divided about whether preference should be given for Hispanic Americans (46% should, 48% should not) and black Americans (46% should, 49% should not). A majority of black Millennials think that neither women (53%), nor Asian Americans (58%), nor gay and lesbian people (60%) should be given preference in college admissions and in hiring.

Hispanic Millennials are divided on whether preferences should be given to Hispanic Americans (49% should, 43% should not), black Americans (46% should, 49% should not), and women (45% should, 47% should not) in college admissions and in hiring. However, a majority of Hispanic Millennials believe that Asian Americans (52%) and gay and lesbian people (58%) should not be given preference.

Rationale for Affirmative Action Programs

Younger Millennials are three times more likely to say that affirmative action programs should be implemented to increase diversity (28%) than to say it should be implemented to make up for past discrimination (9%). However, nearly 6-in-10 (57%) younger Millennials say there should be no preferences in college admissions or hiring.

There are no differences between Millennial men and women, but there are significant racial divisions. A slim majority (51%) of black Millennials say preferences in college admissions and hiring should be made to increase diversity, compared to 15% who say they should be made to make up for past discrimination. Simi-

Among founger minerinais (16-23)									
	All Younger Millennials	White	Black	Hispanic					
Make up for past discrimination	9	3	15	23					
Increase diversity	28	18	51	38					
Should not be done	57	75	32	30					
Refused	<u>5</u>	<u>4</u>	<u>2</u>	<u>9</u>					
	100	100	100	100					

Reasons to Support Affirmative Action by Race

Among Younger Millennials (18-25)

Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

larly, roughly 4-in-10 (38%) Hispanic Millennials think that preferences in college admissions and in hiring should be made to increase diversity, compared to 1-in-4 (25%) who say they should be made to make up for past discrimination. Roughly 3-in-10 black Millennials (32%) and Hispanic Millennials (30%) say preferences should not be made at all. Less than 1-in-5 (18%) white Millennials say preferences should be made to increase diversity, and 3% think they should be made to make up for past discrimination. Three-quarters (75%) of white Millennials say preferences in hiring and in college admissions should not be made at all.

Close to half (45%) of Millennial Democrats say that preferences should be made to increase diversity, while only 10% say they should be made to make up for past discrimination. Close to half (45%) say preference should not be made at all. Few Millennial Republicans believe that preferences should be made to increase diversity (10%) or to make up for historic discrimination (5%). More than 8-in-10 (84%) Millennial Republicans say there should be no preferences in college admissions and hiring. Millennial Independents fall in between: more than one-quarter (26%) favor preferences to increase diversity, and slightly more than 1-in-10 (12%) favor preferences to make up for past discrimination, while nearly 6-in-10 (59%) do not support preferences in hiring and college admissions at all.

Effect of Race or Gender on College Admissions

Although most younger Millennials are firmly opposed to affirmative action programs in college admissions, relatively few report that they were hurt in the college admissions process because of their race or gender. Fifteen percent of Millennials say they were hurt by their race or gender, while about 1-in-10 (8%) say they were helped by these policies. Nearly 7-in-10 (69%) say their race or gender did not affect them in the college admissions process.

There are modest differences by race, but no significant differences by gender. About 1-in-5 (18%) white Millennials report that they were hurt in the college admissions process because of their race or gender. Seven-in-ten (70%) say it didn't make a difference. Interestingly, black Millennials are equally as likely to say that their race or gender hurt them (10%) as they are to say that their race or gender helped them (9%). Nearly 1-in-5 (18%) Hispanic Millennials believe that their race or gender helped them (18%), while 11% believe their race or gender hurt their admissions prospects.

There are no major differences by party affiliation. Approximately 7-in-10 Millennial Democrats (72%), Republicans (72%), and Independents (70%) report that their race or gender made no difference in the college admissions process.

Effect of Race or Gender on Future Career Prospects

Perhaps one reason younger Millennials show lower support for affirmative action programs than their political and social profile might suggest is that most Millennials simply do no think their race or gender will have an effect on their future career prospects. More than 6-in-10 (63%) Millennials believe that their gender or race will make no difference in their career, while 12% think it will help them, and 18% think it will hurt them.

There are modest differences by race, but no divisions by gender. Majorities of white (67%), black (54%), and Hispanic (57%) Millennials say that their race or gender will make no difference in their future career prospects. White Millennials are slightly more likely to say their careers will be hurt (16%) than helped (10%) by their race or gender. Black Millennials are four times more likely to say their careers will be hurt (33%) rather than helped (8%) by their race or gender. By contrast, significantly more Hispanic Millennials believe they will be helped (22%) rather than hurt (13%) by their race or gender.

Millennial women (64%) are about equally as likely as Millennial men (61%) to say that their race or gender will make no difference for their career. Less than 1-in-5 Millennial men (15%) and less than 1-in-10 (9%) Millennial women say they will


Perceived Effects of Race or Gender on Future Career Prospects

Among Younger Millennials (18-25)

be helped in their career by their race or gender, while around 1-in-5 Millennial men (15%) and Millennial women (21%) say they will be hurt.

Nearly one-quarter (24%) of Millennials with a college degree think that they will be helped in their career by their race or gender, at least twice the rate of those with a high school education or less (12%) and those with some college (9%).

Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

The Efficacy of Democratic Participation

Pessimism About Politicians, the Democratic Process, and Government

Overall, younger Millennials (age 18-25) exhibit a high degree of pessimism about elected officials, the democratic process, and the government. More than 8-in-10 (81%) younger Millennials believe that elected officials in Washington lose touch with people pretty quickly, and nearly two-thirds (64%) agree that we need new people in Washington even if they are not as effective as experienced politicians. Similarly, more than 6-in-10 (63%) younger Millennials agree that "people like me don't have any say about what the government does," while more than 8-in-10 (82%) believe that business corporations have too much influence on the political process. More than 6-in-10 (61%) Millennials reject the idea that "the government is really run for the benefit of all the people," and Millennials are six times more likely to say they think about government as "the" government (86%) rather than "our" government (12%).

This significant disaffection with the government and the political system cuts across political affiliation, race, religious affiliation, and gender. However, there are significant differences among demographic subgroups, particularly with respect to the intensity of their opinion.



Disillusionment With the Political Process

Among Younger Millennials (18-25)

Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

Although majorities of younger Millennials from all racial and ethnic groups agree that "people like me don't have any say in what the government does," there are varying degrees of intensity. White (65%) and Hispanic (68%) Millennials are more likely than black Millennials (51%) to agree with this statement.

Although there is bipartisan agreement that business corporations have too much influence on the political process, younger Millennials exhibit differing degrees of intensity. Nearly 9-in-10 (88%) Millennial Democrats and more than 8-in-10 (84%) Independent Millennials agree that business corporations have too much influence, while roughly 7-in-10 (71%) Millennial Republicans say the same.

There are also varying levels of intensity between younger Millennial men and women. Seven-in-ten (71%) Millennial men agree that we need new people in Washington even if they are not as effective as experienced politicians, compared to 57% of younger Millennial women.

Optimism About the Efficacy of Voting and Impact on Voter Engagement

Despite their pessimism about government and politicians, more than two-thirds (68%) of younger Millennials nonetheless say that "voting gives people like me some say about how government runs things." Younger Millennials who are affiliated with one of the two major political parties are more likely to articulate confidence in the power of their vote than younger Millennials who identify as politically Independent. While about 8-in-10 Millennial Democrats (77%) and Millennial Republicans (81%) believe that voting gives people like them some say about how the government runs things, only 56% of Millennial Independents agree.

Younger Millennials who say they were taken to the voting booth as children are also more optimistic about the power of their vote. More than three-quarters (76%) of younger Millennials who were taken to the voting booth by their parents as children agree that voting gives people like them some say about how the government runs things, compared to about 6-in-10 (62%) of those who did not accompany their parents to the voting booth.

There is a strong connection between vote registration status among younger Millennials and views about the relevance of voting. Three-quarters (75%) of younger Millennials who are registered to vote agree that voting gives people like them some say about how the government runs things, compared to roughly half 52% of those who are not registered.

A similar pattern exists with regard to Millennials' self-reported likelihood of voting. Nearly 8-in-10 (79%) younger Millennials who say they are certain to vote in the presidential election agree that voting gives people like them some say about how the government runs things, compared to 41% of younger Millennials who say they are not likely to vote.

Pessimism About the Long-term Stability of Social Security

One additional measure about confidence in government is how certain younger Millennials are that government programs will be there when they need them. Less than 3-in-10 (27%) younger Millennials say they are confident that Social Security will be there for them when they retire, while nearly 7-in-10 (69%) say they are not confident about this. Majorities of younger Millennials across gender, race, and religious and political affiliations report that they are not confident that Social Security will be there for them when they retire. There are, however, some varying degrees of intensity among demographic subgroups.

White Millennials (21%) are significantly less likely than Hispanic (36%) and black (35%) Millennials to say that Social Security will be there for them when they retire. Millennial Democrats (36%) are more confident than Millennial Republicans (27%) and Independents (24%) that Social Security will be there for them when they retire.

There are also significant differences by level of educational attainment and religious affiliation. Younger Millennials with a high school education or less (33%) are more confident than those with a bachelor's degree or higher (17%) that Social Security will be there when they retire. Similarly, minority Protestant Millennials (33%) and religiously unaffiliated Millennials (32%) are more confident than white evangelical Protestant Millennials (19%) and white mainline Protestant Millennials (15%) that Social Security will be there for them when they retire.

Economic Issues: Health Care and Taxes

The 2010 Health Care Law

Younger Millennials are divided on whether the 2010 health care law should be repealed and eliminated, with 46% in favor and 50% opposed. There are substantial differences by race, party affiliation, and religious affiliation.

A majority (59%) of white Millennials favor repealing the 2010 health care law while 37% are opposed. By contrast, approximately three-quarters (76%) of black Millennials and more than 6-in-10 (63%) Hispanic Millennials oppose eliminating and repealing the health care law.

More than 8-in-10 (82%) Millennial Republicans favor repealing and eliminating the health care law. Roughly three-quarters of Millennial Democrats (76%) say the law should not be repealed. Millennial Independents are divided, with half (50%) in favor of repealing the law and 48% opposed.

Eight-in-ten (80%) white evangelical Protestants Millennials, two-thirds (67%) of white mainline Protestant Millennials, and more than 6-in-10 (64%) white Catholic Millennials favor repealing and eliminating the 2010 health care law. Catholic Millennials are divided, with a slim majority (52%) in favor of repealing the law, while 46% are opposed. Around two-thirds of minority Protestant Millennials (67%) and religiously unaffiliated Millennials (65%) say the 2010 health care law should not be repealed.

The Buffett Rule

There is strong support among younger Millennials for a policy popularly known as the Buffett Rule, which would increase taxes on Americans making at least \$1 million per year. Seven-in-ten (70%) Millennials favor increasing the tax rate on Americans earning more than \$1 million a year, while 27% are opposed.

There are few differences among younger Millennials on this question, although there are some variations in intensity by political affiliation. Millennial Democrats (85%) and Independents (71%) are more likely than Millennial Republicans (51%) to favor increasing the tax rate on Americans earning more than \$1 million a year.

Majorities of all religious groups, including 77% of religiously unaffiliated Millennials, 75% of Catholic Millennials overall, 72% of white mainline Protestant Millennials, 68% of white Catholic Millennials, 62% of minority Protestant Millennials, and 60% of white evangelical Protestant Millennials, favor increasing the tax rate on Americans earning more than \$1 million a year.

Social Issues

Same-sex marriage

More than 6-in-10 (61%) younger Millennials (age 18-25) support allowing gay and lesbian couples to marry legally, while 36% are opposed. This is roughly the same level of support for same-sex marriage that younger Millennials articulated in March 2012.

There are substantial divisions among younger Millennials on the issue of samesex marriage. Millennial Democrats (76%) and Independents (65%) are significantly more likely than Millennial Republicans (34%) to favor allowing gay and lesbian couples to marry legally.

Majorities of religiously unaffiliated Millennials (78%), Catholic Millennials overall (76%), white Catholic Millennials (68%), and white mainline Protestant Millennials (67%) support same-sex marriage. By contrast, majorities of minority Protestant Millennials (57%) and white evangelical Protestant Millennials (61%) oppose same-sex marriage.

Millennial women (67%) are more likely than Millennial men (54%) to support allowing gay and lesbian couples to marry legally.



Support for Social Issues by Party Affiliation

Among Younger Millennials (18-25)

Obama's decision to publicly support same-sex marriage has had little effect on younger Millennials' opinions. In March 2012, roughly 6-in-10 (59%) Millennials reported that they were in favor of allowing gay and lesbian people to marry, compared to 61% in the current survey. There are also no significant differences in the opinions of black Millennials (49% favored same-sex marriage in March compared to 46% currently) or Millennial Democrats (74% favored this policy in March compared to 76% currently) over this period.

Marijuana

A majority (53%) of younger Millennials favor making marijuana legal in the United States, while 44% are opposed. There are no significant differences by race, gender, or educational attainment on this question; however, there are some divi-

Source: PRRI, Millennial Values and Voter Engagement Survey, October 2012 (N=1,214)

sions by political affiliation and religious affiliation.

Nearly 6-in-10 Millennial Independents (58%) and Millennial Democrats (57%) favor the legalization of marijuana, compared to about 4-in-10 (43%) Millennial Republicans. Nearly 6-in-10 (58%) Millennial Republicans are opposed.

Majorities of religiously unaffiliated Millennials (68%), Catholic Millennials overall (60%), white Catholic Millennials (57%), and white mainline Protestant Millennials (53%) favor the legalization of marijuana. Minority Protestant Millennials are divided, with 46% in favor of the legalization of marijuana and a slim majority (53%) opposed. Only 35% of white evangelical Protestant Millennials favor the legalization of marijuana, while 62% are opposed.

The DREAM Act

More than 6-in-10 (61%) younger Millennials favor the basic tenets of the DREAM Act ("allowing illegal immigrants brought to the U.S. as children to gain legal resident status if they join the military or go to college").

There are clear divisions by political affiliation on this question. Millennial Democrats (74%) and Independents (66%) are substantially more likely than Millennial Republicans (40%) to support the central elements of the DREAM Act.

Although majorities of all racial and ethnic groups support the central tenets of the DREAM Act, there are some variations in intensity. Hispanic (78%) and black (72%) Millennials are more likely than white Millennials (53%) to support the basic elements of the DREAM Act.

There are also substantial divisions by religious affiliation. Majorities of minority Protestant Millennials (75%), religiously unaffiliated Millennials (67%), Catholic Millennials overall (63%), and white mainline Protestant Millennials (51%) support allowing illegal immigrants brought to the U.S. as children to gain legal resident status if they join the military or go to college. By contrast, less than half of white Catholic Millennials (41%) and white evangelical Protestant Millennials (42%) support this policy.

Millennial women (67%) are more likely than Millennial men (54%) to favor the basic tenets of the DREAM Act.

Appendix 1: Survey Methodology

The 2012 Millennial Values Election Survey was conducted jointly by Public Religion Research Institute and Georgetown University's Berkley Center for Religion, Peace, and World Affairs. Results from the Millennial Values Election Survey were based on interviews with 1,214 adults age 18 to 25 who were re-contacted from the original Millennial Values Survey. The original Millennial Values Survey were based on interviews of 2,013 adults age 18 to 24 who are part of the Knowledge Networks' KnowledgePanel. Interviews for the Millennial Values Election Survey were conducted online in both English and Spanish between August 28 and September 10, 2012. The margin of sampling error for the entire sample is +/-4.3 percentage points at the 95% level of confidence. The survey was funded by a generous grant from the Ford Foundation.

The KnowledgePanel is a nationally representative probability sample of the U.S. adult population. Panelists are recruited by randomly selecting residential addresses es using a process called address-based sampling (ABS). Since nearly 3-in-10 U.S. households do not have home Internet access, respondent households who do not have Internet access or own a computer are provided Internet service and a netbook computer to ensure that panel respondents are representative of the U.S. adult population. Unlike opt-in panels, households are not permitted to "self-select" into KnowledgePanel; nor are they allowed to participate in many surveys per week. Additional details about the KnowledgePanel can be found on the Knowledge Networks website: www.knowledgenetworks.com/knpanel.

To reduce the effects of any non-response and non-coverage bias, a post-stratification adjustment was applied based on demographic distributions from the February 2012 Current Population Survey (CPS). The final sample was weighted to seven different parameters—age, race/ethnicity, sex, geographic region, metropolitan area, education and primary language—to ensure reliable and accurate representation of the population.

Appendix 2: Comparisons to the General Population

	Younger Millennials	All Americans
Do you approve or disapprove of the way Barack Obama is handling his job as President?		
Approve	51	46
Disapprove	39	43
Mixed/Neutral/ Other	7	6
Refused	4	5
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

How much thought have you given to the coming (2012) presi-
dential election? (Among Registered Voters)

Quite a lot	38	70
Some	41	4
Only a little	16	23
None at all	4	2
Refused	*	1
	100	100

Source: Pew Research Center for the People & the Press Political Survey, September 2012 (N=3019) Note: Registered voters who are certain they are registered to vote

These days, many people are so busy they can't find time to register to vote, or move around so often they don't get a chance to re-register. Are you NOW registered to vote in your precinct or election district or haven't you been able to register so far?

Yes, Registered	66	80
No, not registered	27	20
Not sure/Refused	8	1
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

How would you rate your chances of voting in the 2012 presidential election? 50 70 Absolutely certain Probably will vote 10 16 Chances are 50-50 13 8 Less than 50-50 19 9 chance Refused 2 2 100 100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

	Younger Millennials	All Americans
Now, suppose the 2012 presidential election were being held TODAY. If you had to choose between Barack Obama or Mitt Romney who would you vote for? (Among Registered Voters)		
Barack Obama	55	45
Mitt Romney	39	39
Other/Don't Know/ Refused	6	16
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

Mitt Romney		
Very Favorable	8	11
Mostly Favorable	24	31
Mostly Unfavorable	25	25
Very Unfavorable	33	23
Have not heard of/ Refused	10	10
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

Barack Obama		
Very Favorable	27	23
Mostly Favorable	29	32
Mostly Unfavorable	16	17
Very Unfavorable	22	24
Have not heard of/ Refused	6	3
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

The Democratic Party		
Very Favorable	18	17
Mostly Favorable	33	34
Mostly Unfavorable	23	23
Very Unfavorable	18	20
Have not heard of/ Refused	9	6
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

Public Religion Research Institute

	Younger Millennials	All Americans
The Republican Party	7	
Very Favorable	9	11
Mostly Favorable	24	33
Mostly Unfavorable	28	26
Very Unfavorable	29	23
Have not heard of/ Refused	10	7
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

Do you think the Democratic Party is very conservative, conservative, moderate, liberal, or very liberal?

Very Conservative	3	4
Conservative	9	13
Moderate	30	26
Liberal	33	30
Very Liberal	20	19
Refused (VOL.)	5	8
	100	100

Source: Pew Research Center for the People & the Press Political Survey, August 2011 (N=1,509)

Do you think the Republican Party is very conservative, conservative, moderate, liberal, or very liberal?

Very Conservative	30	20
Conservative	34	35
Moderate	23	22
Liberal	5	8
Very Liberal	3	6
Refused (VOL.)	5	9
	100	100

Source: Pew Research Center for the People & the Press Political Survey, August 2011 (N=1,509)

Thinking about your vote for President, how important is it for a candidate to have strong religious beliefs?		
Very Important	19	39
Somewhat Important	30	27
Not too important	21	14
Not at all important	27	19
Refused (VOL.)	3	1
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, American Values Survey, October 2011 (N=1,505)

	Millennials	All Americans
Do you think that Barack Obama has religious beliefs that are very similar, somewhat similar, somewhat different or very different than your own religious beliefs?		
Barack Obama		
Very similar	13	11
Somewhat similar	32	28
Somewhat different	20	17
Very different	30	28
Don't know religion/ Refused	5	15
	100	100

Vounger

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, PRRI/RNS Religion News Survey, May 2012 (N=1,006)

Do you think that Mitt Romney has religious beliefs that are very similar, somewhat similar, somewhat different or very different than your own religious beliefs?

Very similar	7	5
Somewhat similar	27	25
Somewhat different	22	23
Very different	40	26
Don't know religion/ Refused (VOL.)	5	20
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, PRRI/RNS Religion News Survey, May 2012 (N=1,006)

Now, read each statement and please say if you completely agree, mostly agree, mostly disagree, or completely disagree with each one.

People like me don't have any say about what the government does

Completely agree	21	18
Mostly agree	42	37
Mostly disagree	29	29
Completely disagree	6	15
DK/Refused	2	2
	100	100

Source: Pew Research Center for the People & the Press Values Survey, April 2012 (N=3,008)

Generally speaking, elected officials in Washington lose touch with the people pretty quickly		
Completely agree	33	38
Mostly agree	48	43
Mostly disagree	14	12
Completely disagree	3	4
DK/Refused	2	2
	100	100

Source: Pew Research Center for the People & the Press Values Survey, April 2012 (N=3,008)

	Younger Millennials	All Americans
Voting gives people like me some say about how government runs things		
Completely agree	17	24
Mostly agree	51	45
Mostly disagree	21	19
Completely disagree	9	10
DK/Refused	2	2
	100	100

Source: Pew Research Center for the People & the Press Values Survey, April 2012 (N=3,008)

The government is really run for the benefit of all the people		
Completely agree	6	9
Mostly agree	32	31
Mostly disagree	43	36
Completely disagree	18	20
DK/Refused	2	3
	100	100

Source: Pew Research Center for the People & the Press Values Survey, April 2012 (N=3,008)

We need new people in Washington even if they are not as effective as experienced politicians		
Completely agree	20	22
Mostly agree	44	33
Mostly disagree	27	29
Completely disagree	7	13
DK/Refused	2	3
	100	100

Source: Pew Research Center for the People & the Press Values Survey, April 2012 (N=3,008)

When you think and talk about government, do you tend to think of it more as "the government" or more as "our government"?

Think of it as "the government"	86	52
Think of it as "our government"	12	46
DK/Refused	3	1
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

	Younger Millennials	All Americans
We would like to get your views on some issues that are being discussed in the country today. Do you favor or oppose the following issues?		
Allowing gay and lesbia	an couples to marry le	gally
Strongly Favor	34	24
Favor	27	25
Oppose	16	17
Strongly Oppose	20	28
Refused (VOL.)	3	6
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

Allowing illegal immigrants brought to the U.S. as children
to gain legal resident status if they join the military or go to
college

Strongly Favor	25	23
Favor	36	37
Oppose	21	18
Strongly Oppose	13	18
Refused (VOL.)	4	4
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

Increasing the tax rate on Americans earning more than \$1 million a year		
Strongly Favor	40	39
Favor	30	22
Oppose	19	19
Strongly Oppose	8	17
DK/Refused	3	2
	100	100

Source: Public Religion Research Institute, Race, Class, and Culture Survey, September 2012 (N=2,501)

Repealing and eliminating the (2010) health care law		
Strongly Favor	22	40
Favor	24	9
Oppose	28	12
Strongly Oppose	22	30
DK/Refused	4	10
	100	100

Source: NBC News/Wall Street Journal, April 2012 (N=1,000)

Appendix 3: About PRRI and the Authors

Public Religion Research Institute

Public Religion Research Institute is a nonprofit, nonpartisan research and education organization dedicated to work at the intersection of religion, values, and public life. Our mission is to help journalists, opinion leaders, scholars, clergy, and the general public better understand debates on public policy issues and the role of religion in American public life by conducting high quality public opinion surveys and qualitative research.

For a full list of recent projects, see our research page: http://www.publicreligion.org/research/

PRRI also maintains a lively online presence on Facebook and Twitter: http://www.facebook.com/publicreligion http://www.twitter.com/publicreligion

Robert P. Jones, Ph.D., CEO

Dr. Jones is a leading scholar in both academic and public policy circles. He is the author of two books and numerous peer-review articles on religion and public policy. He writes weekly at "Figuring Faith," a featured Washington Post On Faith blog. Robert is one of six members of the national steering committee for the Religion and Politics Section at the American Academy of Religion and is an active member of the American Political Science Association, the Society of Christian Ethics, and the American Association of Public Opinion Research. He holds a Ph.D. in religion from Emory University, where he specialized in sociology of religion, politics, and religious ethics. He also holds an M.Div. from Southwestern Baptist Theological Seminary.

Before founding PRRI, Robert worked as a consultant and research fellow at several think tanks in Washington, DC, and served as assistant professor of religious studies at Missouri State University. He is a sought after speaker, and he is frequently featured in national media outlets including NPR, CNN, Newsweek, USA Today, The Washington Post, The New York Times, and The Los Angeles Times.

Daniel Cox, Director of Research

Director of Research and co-founder of PRRI, Dan also brings a wealth of expertise to PRRI projects. Prior to joining PRRI, he served as Research Associate at the Pew Forum on Religion & Public Life, where he worked on the core research team for a number of surveys, including the groundbreaking Religious Landscape Survey, one of the largest public opinion surveys on religion ever conducted. Dan specializes in youth politics and religion, and his work has appeared in numerous national news and religious publications including the New York Times, ABC News, CNN, Newsweek, and World Magazine.

Dan holds an M.A. in American government from Georgetown University and a B.A. in political science from Union College. He is an active member of the American Association of Public Opinion Research.

Juhem Navarro-Rivera, Research Associate

Juhem has an extensive and diverse research portfolio and significant experience in the field of religion and politics. Before joining the PRRI team, Juhem was a Research Fellow at the Institute for the Study of Secularism in Society and Culture at Trinity College, where he served as the lead analyst for several national and international studies, including the landmark American Religious Identification Survey. He also taught political science and Latino Studies at the Puerto Rican and Latino Studies Institute (currently El Instituto: Institute of Latina/o, Caribbean, and Latin American Studies) at the University of Connecticut.

Juhem earned a B.A. in political science from the University of Puerto Rico at Río Piedras and a M.A. in political science from the University of Connecticut, where he is currently completing his doctorate. His research interests include religion and politics, Latino public opinion, and political representation.

Public Religion Research Institute is a nonprofit, nonpartisan research organization dedicated to work at the intersection of religion, values, and public life.

Public Religion Research Institute 2027 Massachusetts Avenue NW, Floor 3 Washington, DC 20036 www.publicreligion.org 202.238.9424